13. Educational Use

Contents

Summary	269
Education and exceptions	270
Current exceptions	270
Fair use and education	271
Technical copying	272
'Freely available' material	273
Small portions	274
Commercial use and third parties	276
Market harm	277
An illustrative purpose	279
Fair dealing for education	280
Repeal of existing exceptions	281

Summary

- 13.1 Some uses of copyright material by educational institutions are the subject of free-use exceptions in the *Copyright Act 1968* (Cth). Other uses are paid for through licensing arrangements.
- 13.2 Educational institutions should continue to pay for many uses of copyright material, particularly when reasonable and efficient licences are offered by rights holders. An incentive to create is necessary not only for writers, publishers and other rights holders, but also for the students and educational institutions that need educational resources.
- 13.3 However, the ALRC considers that exceptions to copyright are appropriate for some educational uses of copyright, and proposes that the fair use exception should be applied when determining whether an educational use infringes copyright. Further, 'education' should be an illustrative purpose in the fair use exception.
- 13.4 If a fair use test is not enacted, the ALRC proposes that a new 'fair dealing for education' exception be introduced. This would also require consideration of what is fair, having regard to the same fairness factors in the fair use exception.
- 13.5 In Chapter 6, the ALRC proposes the repeal of the statutory licences in pts VA and VB of the *Copyright Act*. These statutory licences appear to be unsuitable for a digital age. Rights holders, collecting societies and educational institutions should be able to negotiate more flexible and efficient licensing arrangements voluntarily.

Education and exceptions

- 13.6 Education has been called 'one of the clearest examples of a strong public interest in limiting copyright protection'. ¹
- 13.7 The preamble to the *World Intellectual Property Organization Copyright Treaty* (WCT) refers to 'the need to maintain a balance between the rights of authors and the larger public interest, particularly education, research and access to information, as reflected in the *Berne Convention*'.²
- 13.8 The use of copyright material for teaching, when fair, has long been recognised as a legitimate type of exception in international law. Article 10(2) of the *Berne Convention* provides:

It shall be a matter for legislation in the countries of the Union, and for special agreements existing or to be concluded between them, to permit the utilization, to the extent justified by the purpose, of literary or artistic works by way of illustration in publications, broadcasts or sound or visual recordings for teaching, provided such utilization is compatible with fair practice.³

13.9 The references to purpose and fair practice, Ricketson and Ginsburg state:

make the provision more open-ended, implying no necessary quantitative limitations. The words 'by way of illustration' impose some limitation, but would not exclude the use of the whole of a work in appropriate circumstances.⁴

13.10 However, Ricketson and Ginsburg express some doubt about whether anthologies or course packs consisting of chapters taken from various books would fall within the scope of art 10(2) of the *Berne Convention*. It would be 'a distortion of language', they state, to describe such uses as 'by way of illustration ... for teaching'. They also note that such usages are 'well-developed forms of exploitation in many countries, subject to voluntary licensing arrangements or even compulsory licensing schemes'.

Current exceptions

13.11 The *Copyright Act* contains a number of free-use exceptions for educational institutions. There are exceptions for:

- s 28—performing material, including playing music and films in class;
- s 44—including short extracts from material in a collection;

¹ K Garnett, G Davies and G Harbottle, Copinger and Skone James on Copyright (16th ed, 2011), [9–96].

World Intellectual Property Organization Copyright Treaty, opened for signature 20 December 1996, ATS 26 (entered into force on 6 March 2002), preamble.

³ Berne Convention for the Protection of Literary and Artistic Works (Paris Act), opened for signature 24 July 1971, [1978] ATS 5 (entered into force on 15 December 1972).

S Ricketson and J Ginsburg, International Copyright and Neighbouring Rights: The Berne Convention and Beyond (2nd ed, 2006) Vol I, 791.

⁵ Ibid, 794.

⁶ Ibid, 794.

- ss 135ZG, 135ZMB—copying insubstantial portions;
- s 200—use of works and broadcasts for educational purposes; and
- s 200AAA—proxy web caching by educational institutions.
- 13.12 There is also a broad exception in s 200AB of the *Copyright Act* for, among others, bodies administering an educational institution. The exception covers a use that is for the purpose of giving educational instruction and not for a profit. The use must amount to a special case, must not conflict with a normal exploitation of the material and must not unreasonably prejudice the legitimate interests of the owner of the copyright. B
- 13.13 The *Copyright Act* also provides exceptions for fair dealing for the purpose of research or study, in ss 40 and 103C. However, these exceptions have been held not to extend to uses by educational institutions, but only to private research and study by individuals. ¹⁰

Fair use and education

- 13.14 A new fair use exception is proposed in Chapter 4. That some educational uses may be fair is clear from the US fair use provision. The US fair use exception twice refers explicitly to education. The preamble includes, as an illustrative purpose, 'teaching (including multiple copies for classroom use), scholarship, or research'. Furthermore, the first of the four fairness factors in the US provision is the 'purpose and character of the use, including whether such use is of commercial nature or is for nonprofit educational purposes'.
- 13.15 In a recent US cases that involved making copies of excerpts of copyrighted works for teaching students and for scholarship, a US District Court considered this first fairness factor and stated that the 'language of s 107 itself and the Supreme Court's opinion in *Campbell* compel the decision that the first fair use factor favors [the defendant university]'. ¹¹ The Court distinguished commercial copying held not to be fair in other cases, and the 'purely nonprofit, educational purposes' of the university. It also noted the importance of the transformative nature of a use, but cited the statement of the Supreme Court in *Campbell* that the 'obvious statutory exception to this focus on transformative uses is the straight reproduction of multiple copies for classroom distribution'. ¹²
- 13.16 Precisely which educational uses would be held by a court to be fair use is an important question. Fair use should be considered on a case by case basis. The 'fact of

⁷ Copyright Act 1968 (Cth) s 200AB.

⁸ Ibid s 200AB.

⁹ Ibid ss 40, 103C, 248(1)(aa). See also Ch 7, 'Fair Dealing'.

De Garis v Neville Jeffress Pidler Pty Ltd (1990) 37 FCR 99; Haines v Copyright Agency Ltd (1982) 64 FLR 185.

¹¹ Cambridge University Press v Becker (Georgia State University), Civ. Action No. 1:08-CV-1425-ODE (District Court for North District of Georgia, 11 May 2012), 49.

¹² Ibid, 49.

a nonprofit educational purpose does not automatically ensure fair use' as other factors are important. ¹³ This flexibility is one of the main benefits of fair use, particularly in a changing digital environment. Although this Discussion Paper does not come to conclusions about exactly which educational uses are likely to be held by courts to be fair use, it is instructive to consider perspectives on which educational uses might be fair

Technical copying

13.17 One example of a fair use for education may be some of the so-called 'technical copying' that is done when using new digital technologies in the classroom. ¹⁴ This was a particular concern expressed in submissions from the education sector. The Copyright Advisory Group—Schools (the Schools), for example, submitted that

The simple act of using more modern teaching methods potentially adds up to 4 remunerable activities under the statutory licence in addition to the potential costs incurred by more traditional 'print and distribute' teaching methods. ¹⁵

13.18 The education sector appears to consider that it should not have to pay for some types of 'technical' copying and communication of copyright material.

The requirements of the statutory licence to record in a survey (and potentially pay for) every technological copy and communication involved in teaching simply do not reflect the realities of modern education in a digital age. ¹⁶

13.19 Universities Australia submitted that the scope of the express exception for caching in s 200AAA of the *Copyright Act* is too narrow, and may inhibit the use of cloud technologies and services:

As the digital activities of universities and other educational institutions increasingly migrate from systems 'operated by or on behalf of' the university to cloud based systems, this education-specific exception may well come under challenge.¹⁷

13.20 Such uses may also be characterised as 'non-consumptive' uses, a type of use discussed in Chapter 8. As noted in that chapter, some consider the strict accounting of copying and communicating to be inconsistent with the broader purpose of copyright law, which should instead be more concerned with the ultimate uses of the material. Chris Reed has written that, 'in cyberspace, and to a large extent in the physical world as well, the control of copying has ceased to be an effective proxy for control of use':

a third party may copy information without making any use of the creation which is legally significant, or alternatively may use the creation for economic gain without copying it.¹⁸

17 Universities Australia, Submission 246.

¹³ Ibid, 50.

Some of these uses are discussed in Ch 6, 'Statutory Licences'.

¹⁵ Copyright Advisory Group—Schools, Submission 231.

¹⁶ Ibid.

¹⁸ C Reed, Making Laws for Cyberspace (2012), 154.

13.21 In Chapter 8, the ALRC concludes that some non-consumptive uses of copyright material are likely to be fair, and that 'non-consumptive use' be an illustrative purpose in the fair use exception.

'Freely available' material

- 13.22 More contentiously, some have submitted that schools and universities should be able to use, without payment, some material that is otherwise 'free'—uses such as copying material on the internet and copying content broadcast on free-to-air television.
- 13.23 The Australian education sector has recommended that such material should be removed from the scope of the statutory licensing scheme. The education sector has recommended the introduction of a new exception allowing educational institutions to copy and communicate free and publicly available material on the internet for non-commercial educational purposes. ¹⁹
- 13.24 In its submission to this Inquiry, the Schools further elaborated on why they should not pay for content that is freely available online. Paying for this content was said to threaten the Government's digital economy goals, including 'the success of the Government's investments in digital education'. It 'potentially adds millions of dollars to education budgets each year', and furthermore, 'Australia is the only place in the world where schools are legislatively required to pay for printing a page from a website'.²⁰
- 13.25 Likewise, Universities Australia submitted that freely available internet material is copied in homes and businesses throughout Australia and 'no one is seeking to be paid for it':

We are particularly concerned that at the very time that a wide range of high quality audio-visual resources are being made freely available—such as content on YouTube EDU and the Open University on iTunesU—Screenrights is proposing to seek extension of the Part VA licence that may result in content of this kind becoming remunerable in Australia. ²¹

13.26 Universities Australia also submitted that educational institutions should not have to pay to use free-to-air broadcasts.

No one but the education sector is paying to time-shift this content. The payments extracted from the education sector for educational use of this freely available content cannot in an any way be said to be necessary to provide an incentive for the continued creation of the content.²²

¹⁹ D Browne, 'Educational Use and the Internet – Does Australian Copyright Law Work in the Web Environment?' (2009) 6(2) SCRIPT-ed 450, 461.

²⁰ Copyright Advisory Group—Schools, Submission 231.

²¹ Universities Australia, Submission 246. See also Society of University Lawyers, Submission 158.

²² Universities Australia, Submission 246.

13.27 Screenrights submitted that the call by the education sector wrongly assumes that 'free' material on the internet is not valued by the copyright owner.

The proposal presumes that the content is given away by being made available online without a direct payment. This is completely incorrect. Copyright owners like Screenrights' professional filmmaker members make material available online for very clear commercial reasons. They may choose to make it available for a fee, such as with commercial video on demand services or they may choose to license a website to stream the content for a period of time without charging the consumer directly (such as ABC iView). In the latter case, the consumer still pays for the content, either by watching associated advertising, or through brand attachment to the website and there are clear cross promotional benefits to other platforms where the content is available for a fee, such as via DVD or Blu-ray discs. ²³

13.28 Material 'freely' available on the internet, Screenrights said, 'is very like material broadcast 'freely' on television':

When an educational institution copies a free to air broadcast, it is required to compensate the copyright owners via the Part VA scheme that Screenrights administers. Fundamentally, Screenrights can see no difference with content made available online for free. There may very well be a debate about the value of the content and the price of the compensation, but the principle is the same.²⁴

- 13.29 It is important to distinguish between different types of material on the internet which may be accessed without paying a fee. Some of this content may be provided without any expectation that rights holders will collect fees from educational institutions and governments for the use of the material. At other times, rights holders may only wish to provide their content under limited circumstances.
- 13.30 Of course, a film shown with advertisements on free-to-air television is not really 'free'. Advertising is also not the only way of selling content without explicitly charging for its use: giving a customer access to a free book, for example, so that the customer enters a content 'ecosystem' in which he or she is more likely to buy other books, or indeed films, television shows and other material, is not necessarily the same as giving the book away for free.
- 13.31 The fair use exception proposed in Chapter 4, and the alternative fair dealing for education exception proposed in this chapter, may capture some uses of this content by educational institutions. As discussed below, these exceptions require consideration of the likely harm a particular free use might have on a market. The exceptions are flexible and principle-based, and therefore better equipped to distinguish between types of 'freely available' material than more prescriptive exceptions.

Small portions

13.32 Some publishers called for a removal of the 'small portions' free-use exceptions in ss 135ZG and 135ZMB of the *Copyright Act*, so that educational institutions pay for the use of this material.

_

²³ Screenrights, Submission 215.

²⁴ Ibid.

13.33 Walker Books Australia said that the 'small portions' exceptions are 'perhaps not really fair in relation to works such as picture books, or poems, where a small portion might represent a significant part of a work'. ²⁵ Cengage Learning Australia submitted that

two pages is often the exact extent (often one page is) of a relevant classroom exercise or lesson plan that we create and seek to sell in a 'bundle' of classroom and homework exercises, tests and lesson plans. A two-page portion from our work can represent 100% of value of that portion downloaded. ²⁶

- 13.34 Extending the licence to cover these uses 'would provide a fairer system for all interested parties', RIC Publications said, and 'allow greater clarity for the Copyright Agency in its administration process, again for the benefit of all parties'.²⁷
- 13.35 Universities Australia, however, submitted that current copyright laws are 'stifling academic engagement'. For example, it was argued that universities risk infringing copyright simply by making available on an online repository a student thesis which features short excerpts or images from other copyright material.

To avoid this risk, they generally require their students to obtain permission for use of third party content (which can be highly costly, and in many cases impossible) or, alternatively, to remove this content from their thesis.²⁸

- 13.36 Many of these factors are relevant in any consideration of the fair use exception. For example, the third fairness factor requires consideration of 'the amount and substantiality of the part dealt with, considered in relation to the whole of the copyright material'.²⁹
- 13.37 This third fairness factor was considered in 2012 by a US District Court in *Cambridge University Press v Becker (Georgia State University)*. The Court stated that the word 'substantiality' as used in the US fair use provision means 'value'. ³⁰ It also stated:

With respect to fair use factor three, the amount of the copying as a percentage of the book varies from book to book. In determining what percentage of a book may be copied, the Court looks first to the relationship between the length of the excerpt and the length of the book as a whole. Then, the relationship between the value of the excerpt in relation to the value of the book is examined. The Court also considers the value of a chapter in itself (rather than just a few paragraphs). 31

Walker Books Australia, Submission 144.

²⁶ Cengage Learning Australia Pty Ltd, Submission 68.

²⁷ RIC Publications Pty Ltd, Submission 147.

²⁸ Universities Australia Submission 246.

²⁹ The fairness factors are set out in Ch 4.

³⁰ Cambridge University Press v Becker (Georgia State University), Civ. Action No. 1:08-CV-1425-ODE (District Court for North District of Georgia, 11 May 2012), 67. It has been reported that this case will be appealed.

³¹ Ibid, 87.

13.38 The Court also considered the other fairness factors. In relation to the fourth factor, which concerns market harm and is discussed further below, the Court stated:

Unpaid use of a decidedly small excerpt (as defined under factor three) in itself will not cause harm to the potential market for the copyrighted book. That is because a decidedly small excerpt does not substitute for the book. However, where permissions are readily available from CCC or the publisher for a copy of a small excerpt of a copyrighted book, at a reasonable price, and in a convenient format (in this case, permissions for digital excerpts), and permissions are not paid, factor four weighs heavily in Plaintiffs' favor. Factor four weighs in Defendants' favor when such permissions are not readily available.³²

13.39 Finally, the Court considered whether the use would 'disserve the purposes of the copyright laws', and concluded that

the unpaid use of small excerpts will not discourage academic authors from creating new works, will have no appreciable effect on Plaintiffs' ability to publish scholarly works, and will promote the spread of knowledge. 33

Commercial use and third parties

13.40 A use is less likely to be fair if it is commercial. The fact that the material will ultimately be used for educational purposes does not necessarily mean the use will be fair, particularly if the use was made by a commercial entity.

13.41 For example, in *Basic Books v Kinko's Graphics Corp*, ³⁴ the copying of copyright material to form course packs was found by a US District Court not to be fair use. The use was found to have undermined the market for the full texts from which excerpts had been taken. The Court placed particular weight on the profit-making motive of the defendant, a commercial photocopying business. ³⁵

13.42 There was a similar outcome in *Princeton University Press v Michigan Document Services Inc.*³⁶ Michigan Document Services was a commercial copy shop that, without a licence, reproduced substantial segments of copyrighted works and bound and sold them as course packs to students. Professors Ginsburg and Gorman explain that the majority of the Court held, among other things, that there was not a blanket exemption in s 107 for 'multiple copies for classroom use'; that the 'verbatim duplication of whole chapters and other large portions of the plaintiff-publishers' books weighed heavily against fair use'; and that 'the photocopying adversely affected not only the publishers' book sales but also the photocopying royalties that they would otherwise be paid by a by-then thriving licensing and collecting agency'.³⁷

34 Basic Books v Kinko's Graphics Corp 758 F.Supp. 1522 (S.D.N.Y 1991).

³² Cambridge University Press v Becker (Georgia State University), Civ. Action No. 1:08-CV-1425-ODE (District Court for North District of Georgia, 11 May 2012), 89.

³³ Ibid , 89.

J Ginsburg and R Gorman, Copyright Law (2012), 194.

³⁶ Princeton University Press v Michigan Document Services Inc 99 F.3d 1381 (6th Cir. 1996).

J Ginsburg and R Gorman, Copyright Law (2012), 194.

13.43 These cases concerned commercial copying. Copying and other uses by a nonprofit educational institution are more likely to be fair, though the fairness factors would need to be considered.

Market harm

13.44 Many vital educational resources might not be created without the protection of copyright laws. The incentive to write or publish a textbook, for example, might be undermined if the authors and publishers were not paid for the use of their books by students and educators. The public interest in education could be undermined by 'weak' copyright laws. As noted earlier, education is said to be 'one of the clearest examples of a strong public interest in limiting copyright protection'. However, the authors of this authoritative textbook go on to write that

just because education is a worthy cause does not mean that some form of blanket exception to copyright should be allowed. It must be remembered that it is works made for educational purposes that will often be copied in educational establishments. A wide exception would therefore undermine the market for such works, so that a publisher would be unlikely to invest in their production.³⁹

- 13.45 The importance of education does not mean creators should subsidise education in Australia. Although this Inquiry is about exceptions to copyright, the ALRC appreciates the need for copyright laws to help ensure authors, publishers, film makers and other creators have an incentive to create.
- 13.46 A number of stakeholders opposed any new or extended free-use exception for educational institutions on the grounds that this would reduce the incomes of creators and publishers. Many stressed that this would be particularly damaging in an environment in which creators and rights holders are already struggling to fight piracy and maintain successful business models in a new digital age.
- 13.47 One publisher warned that allowing more free uses for education 'would result in drying up of income streams for writers'. ⁴⁰ A reasonably secure source of income was considered particularly important for creators in an industry 'where sales and therefore royalties tend to decline after a year or so'. ⁴¹ Secondary licence fees can 'give much-needed stability to a creator'. ⁴²
- 13.48 One publisher said it 'strongly disagrees' with the proposition that any uses of copyright material now covered by the statutory licences for education should instead be free.

Quality education materials, especially those tailored for a specific Australian curriculum, take significant time, resources and skill to develop and the efforts and rights of the creators and copyright holders should be recognised. 43

40 Spinifex Press, Submission 125.

³⁸ K Garnett, G Davies and G Harbottle, Copinger and Skone James on Copyright (16th ed, 2011), [9–96].

³⁹ Ibid.

⁴¹ Walker Books Australia, Submission 144.

⁴² Ibid

⁴³ John Wiley & Sons, Submission 239.

13.49 The Australian Publishers Association (APA) submitted that:

except in relation to the existing free *de minimus* uses such as copying material onto whiteboards and so on (section 200) or uses that fall within section 200AB, there are *no* compelling grounds on which educational sectors should be entitled to use copyright material without payment.⁴⁴

Publishers rely on royalties from the statutory licences, the APA submitted, including to produce 'new resources and platforms' which are important for the digital economy.

13.50 Publishers warned that expanding the free-use exceptions for educational institutions will discourage investment in and the development of educational content. John Wiley and Sons submitted that:

the primary market of many texts and resources are for their express use in schools and educational institutions, so to allow any extended right of free use (particularly in the digital arena) would significantly reduce the ability of, and incentives for, publishers to produce the kinds of innovative and educational materials which are relied on by teachers, lecturers and educators. ⁴⁵

- 13.51 The APA also considered that it is only fair that publishers share in the value that educational institutions have in accessing copyright material, rather than have to subsidise educational institutions. Different uses have different value, but the APA submitted that this can be considered when determining the equitable remuneration the education sector should pay—it should not simply be made free. 46
- 13.52 Music publishing was said to have been 'severely affected by the distribution of unauthorised copies on the internet', and any 'further undercutting of the financial viability of these specialist publishers by the broadening of statutory licences or free-use exceptions may see the unintended consequence of closing this market down entirely'. 47
- 13.53 Under a fair use exception, if a use of copyright material can be licensed, this will generally weigh against a finding of fair use. The availability of a licence is a relevant consideration in determining whether a use is fair. It would be considered under the fourth fairness factor, 'the effect of the use upon the potential market for, or value of, the copyright material'. This is a very important factor to consider, and should ensure that a fair use exception does not unreasonably damage educational publishing and other markets for educational resources.
- 13.54 However, the availability of a licence does not settle the question of fairness; it is not determinative. All of the fairness factors must be considered under the ALRC model.
- 13.55 Some argue that any exceptions to copyright should be specific and confined, to avoid harming rights holders' interests. Exceptions can also be crafted to explicitly exclude the use of material when that use may be licensed. Currently, the free-use

_

⁴⁴ Australian Publishers Association, Submission 225.

⁴⁵ John Wiley & Sons, Submission 239.

⁴⁶ Australian Publishers Association, Submission 225.

⁴⁷ AMPAL, Submission 189.

exception in s 200AB of the *Copyright Act* does not apply to uses of copyright material that may be purchased under a statutory licence. ⁴⁸ These licences are very broad, and so this may mean educational institutions can rarely rely on s 200AB. ⁴⁹

13.56 One argument in support of this policy is that if users can licence copyright material, they should not be able to make use of it for free. Free-use exemptions should only be available when there is market failure, some argue. This argument appears to be inconsistent with the purpose of Australian copyright law. International copyright agreements also do not mandate such a principle. The three-step test provides that free-use exceptions should not 'unreasonably prejudice the legitimate interests of the author'. So It does not say an exception must never prejudice any interest of an author.

13.57 In the ALRC's view, the *Copyright Act* should not provide that free-use exceptions do not apply to copyright material that can be licensed. Instead, the availability of a licence should be an important consideration in determining whether a particular use is fair.

13.58 Justice Nelson of the US District Court discussed this question in *Princeton University Press v Michigan Document Services Inc.* The judge stated that 'Congress has implicitly suggested that licensing fees should be recognized in appropriate cases as part of the potential market for or value of the copyrighted work':

It is true ... that 'a copyright holder can always assert some degree of adverse [e]ffect on its potential licensing revenues as a consequence of [the defendant's use] ... simply because the copyright holder has not been paid a fee to permit that particular use'.... But such an assertion will not carry much weight if the defendant has 'filled a market niche that the [copyright owner] simply had no interest in occupying' Where, on the other hand, the copyright holder clearly does have an interest in exploiting a licensing market—and especially where the copyright holder has actually succeeded in doing so—'it is appropriate that potential licensing revenues for photocopying be considered in a fair use analysis'... Only 'traditional, reasonable, or likely to be developed markets' are to be considered in this connection, and even the availability of an existing system for collecting licensing fees will not be conclusive. ⁵¹

13.59 The availability of a licence should be a relevant, but not determinative, consideration when determining whether a use of copyright material infringes copyright.

An illustrative purpose

13.60 The ALRC proposes that 'education' be one of the illustrative purposes listed in the fair use provision, just as it is an illustrative purpose in the US fair use provision. This will signal that a particular use that falls within the broader category of

⁴⁸ See *Copyright Act 1968* (Cth) s 200AB(6).

⁴⁹ D Browne, 'Educational Use and the Internet – Does Australian Copyright Law Work in the Web Environment?' (2009) 6(2) SCRIPT-ed 450, 454.

⁵⁰ Berne Convention for the Protection of Literary and Artistic Works (Paris Act), opened for signature 24 July 1971, [1978] ATS 5 (entered into force on 15 December 1972) art 9(2) (emphasis added).

⁵¹ Princeton University Press v Michigan Document Services, Inc 99 F.3d 1381 (6th Cir. 1996), (citations omitted).

'educational use' is more likely to be fair than a use which does not fall into this or any other illustrative purpose category.

13.61 However, in deciding whether the particular use is fair, the fairness factors must be considered. The fact that a particular use falls into, or partly falls into, one of the categories of illustrative purpose, does not necessarily mean the use is fair. In fact, it does not even create a presumption that the use is fair. A consideration of the fairness factors is crucial.

Fair dealing for education

13.62 If Australia does not adopt a fair use exception, then the *Copyright Act* should be amended to include a new 'fair dealing for education' exception. Like fair use, the exception should be flexible and able to adapt to new technologies and teaching practices. Like fair use, it would only cover uses which are fair, having regard to the fairness factors. This is a second best option, but it is more likely to enable educational institutions to make use of new digital technologies and opportunities than the existing or amended specific exceptions.

13.63 Some have argued that the existing exceptions for fair dealing for research or study should extend to copying by educational institutions. ⁵² Sections 40 and 103C of the Act provide for exceptions for fair dealing for the purpose of research or study. ⁵³ These exceptions do not extend to uses by educational institutions, but only to private research and study by individuals. In *Haines v Copyright Agency Ltd*, the Full Federal Court drew a distinction 'between an institution making copies for teaching purposes and the activities of individuals concerned with research or study'. ⁵⁴ In *De Garis v Neville Jeffress Pidler Pty Ltd*, it was held that the exception only applies if the person who does the copying is the person who does the research or study. ⁵⁵ This distinction was criticised in some submissions. For example:

The distinction drawn in *De Garis* between acts by the researcher and the acts of a facilitator was based on the Court's reliance on English cases on the narrower notion of 'private study'. It is not required by the Act, and is unnecessarily restrictive. It is entirely artificial to privilege acts of reproduction or copying that can be done by a researcher themselves over acts that require the involvement of a third party, such as an intermediary to assist with the copying or a publisher to disseminate the research output. It is also a distinction that has not found favour in the Supreme Court of Canada. ⁵⁶

13.64 In 2012, the Supreme Court of Canada considered 'whether photocopies made by teachers to distribute to students as part of class instruction can qualify as fair dealing' under Canadian copyright legislation—and concluded that they could.⁵⁷ The

⁵² See also, Ch 5.

⁵³ Copyright Act 1968 (Cth) ss 40, 103C, 248(1)(aa). See also Ch 7, 'Fair Dealing'.

⁵⁴ See *Haines v Copyright Agency Ltd* (1982) 64 FLR 185, 191.

^{55 (1990) 37} FCR 99, 105–6.

R Burrell and others, Submission 278.

⁵⁷ Alberta (Education) v Canadian Copyright Licensing Agency (Access Copyright) (2012) 37 SCC (Canada), [1].

Court stated that photocopies made by a teacher and given to students are 'an essential element in the research and private study undertaken by those students'. ⁵⁸ The Court held that teachers

have no ulterior motive when providing copies to students. Nor can teachers be characterised as having the completely separate purpose of 'instruction'; they are there to facilitate the students' research and private study ... The teacher/copier therefore shares a symbiotic purpose with the student/user who is engaging in research or private study. Instruction and research/private study are, in the school context, tautological.⁵⁹

13.65 Since this case, Canada has introduced an exception for fair dealing for the purpose of education. ⁶⁰

13.66 The extension of the fair dealing for research and study exception to educational institutions was arguably countenanced by the Franki Committee in 1976. The exception then applied to 'research or private study'. The Committee recommended the word 'private' be deleted. Australian copyright scholars submitted that this:

strongly suggests that it was thought that the amended defence would allow for teachers to copy material for the benefit of their students' research or study. However, the Committee separately recommended a statutory licensing scheme for the multiple copying of works by educational institutions and in doing so failed to explain the relationship between this scheme and the amended fair dealing defence.⁶¹

13.67 One of the key benefits of the fair use exception is that it is not confined to dealings that fall into one of the prescribed categories of purpose. A use for prescribed purposes may more often be fair than other types of use, but these other uses should not be presumed unfair. It seems preferable at least to consider whether any given use is fair, rather than automatically prohibit the use. Copyright law that is conducive to new and innovative services and technologies should at least allow for the question of fairness to be raised.

Repeal of existing exceptions

13.68 If either fair use or a fair dealing for education exception is enacted, then the existing specific exceptions in the *Copyright Act* for educational institutions should be repealed—ss 28, 44, 200, 200AAA and 200AB. ⁶²

13.69 The ALRC would expect that many uses within the scope of these exceptions are likely to be fair under the fair use exception—although this would depend on the application of the fairness factors in the particular circumstances. Some may not be fair, perhaps where rights holders can now offer licences they were once thought unlikely to be able to offer.

59 Ibid, [23].

⁵⁸ Ibid, [25].

^{60 &#}x27;Fair dealing for the purpose of research, private study, education, parody or satire does not infringe copyright': Copyright Modernization Act, C-11 2012 (Canada), s 29.

R Burrell and others, Submission 278.

The repeal of s 200AB is also proposed in Ch 11, 'Libraries, Archives and Digitisation'. Section 200AB also covers certain uses by or for persons with disability.

13.70 In any event, the ALRC considers that to increase innovation and efficiency in a digital age, copyright exceptions should be flexible and refer to principles. Confined and specific exceptions should therefore only be necessary to remove any doubt with respect to uses which have a particularly important public interest.

Proposal 13–1 The fair use exception should be applied when determining whether an educational use infringes copyright. 'Education' should be an illustrative purpose in the fair use exception.

Proposal 13–2 If fair use is not enacted, the *Copyright Act* should provide for a new exception for fair dealing for education. This would also require the fairness factors to be considered.

Proposal 13–3 The exceptions for education in ss 28, 44, 200, 200AAA and 200AB of the *Copyright Act* should be repealed.